
Grafton County Commissioners’ Meeting  
February 17, 2026 

Page 1 of 5 
 

GRAFTON COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ MEETING  
Administration Building 
North Haverhill, NH  03774  
February 17, 2026 
 
PRESENT: Commissioners McLeod, Piper, Hedberg, County Administrator Libby, Assistant 
County Administrator Elsholz, and Administrative Assistant Norcross 
 

OTHERS:  
 
In Person: Maintenance Superintendent Oakes, HR Director Clough, Don Bliss – MRI, Bruce 
Baxter – MRI, Phil Blanchard, Sherri Latulip, Jim Richardson, Bill Latulip, Austin Albro, Chad 
Miller 
 
Via Teams: Omer C. Ahern Jr., Representative Sellers, Representative Spahr, Register Monahan, 
Nick De Mayo, A. Champagne, Matt Champagne, Christopher Olsen, Edward Daniels, Jason 
Blair - CAI Technologies 
 
Commissioner McLeod called the meeting to order at 9:00 AM.  

Supt. Oakes arrived and gave the following report (* see attached)  

Commissioner Piper stated that, in regard to the possible increase in the Woodsville Water & 
Light sewer rate, if the bond for WW&L were to pass, the county would see a 65% increase in 
the sewer rates. She stated that Grafton County is attentive to every line in their budget and 
explained that something like this is an external factor that is out of their control.  

Agenda Items:  

1. Commissioner McLeod asked if everyone had a chance to read the minutes from the February 
10th meeting. Commissioner Hedberg had one grammatical edit.  
 

MOTION: Commissioner Hedberg moved to approve the minutes as amended. 
Commissioner Piper seconded the motion, and all were in favor.  
 

2. The Commissioners signed the check register 1116. 
 
3. Court System Lease Renewal – CA Libby met with Sarah Lineberry from the state last week. 
The lease with the state expires June 30th of this year, and they talked through a few different 
scenarios. CA Libby stated that they agreed on a two (2) year agreement, noting that nothing will 
happen with the current building in the next two (2) years, unless renovations are done. She 
stated that the court system is proposing a 3% increase in year 1 and a 2% increase in year 2. The 
Commissioners discussed the proposal. Commissioner Piper stated that in the past, when the 
county has negotiated, they have been successful. She asked if there was any reason why they 
went from 3% in year 1 to 2% in year 2, and if they could increase that to 3% in year 2 as well. 
Commissioner Hedberg stated that the total increase over the two (2) years would be $17,112.86. 
Commissioner Piper stated that they represent their constituents. She asked if they could 
advocate for their county residents and ask for a 3% increase in year 2 as well. Commissioner 



Grafton County Commissioners’ Meeting  
February 17, 2026 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Hedberg stated that she agrees, but feels that all sources of revenue are difficult and they are all 
doing their best. The Commissioners agreed to request a 3% increase in year 2.  
 
HR Director Clough  
 
HR Director Clough arrived to discuss a response to a question an employee had regarding the 
employee handbook and the interpretation of the earned time accrual provisions. This question 
was sent directly to the Commissioners, and last week they asked that HR Director Clough 
review and provide them with feedback.   

HR Director Clough explained that she reviewed the memo from the employee. They are 
requesting clarification of the county’s interpretation of the policy. She stated that this employee 
left Grafton County for roughly six (6) months and then came back. HR Director Clough 
explained that when that happens, according to their handbook, the employee is paid out their 
time when they leave, and if they come back to Grafton County, they are considered a new 
employee. The earned time is accrued each year from the employee’s anniversary date. The 
handbook says if an employee leaves Grafton County and is rehired, the rehire date replaces the 
employee's original hire date, which changes their anniversary date. HR Director Clough stated 
that this handbook is clear, once you look at all of the factors involved. She stated that there are 
other ways they can handle it, but in her opinion, this is the cleanest way to do it. HR Director 
Clough answered further questions from the Commissioners. The Commissioners asked HR 
Director Clough to draft a letter to the employee explaining the clarification of the policy.  

Agenda Items:  

1. Audit Bid Recommendation – CA Libby stated that last week, they opened two (2) bids for 
their audit for the next three (3) fiscal years. She reviewed the following bids again with the 
Commissioners.  

 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 

Vachon Clukay & 
Company PC 

$45,000 $47,000 $49,000 

CLA $71,000 $73,000 $75,000 

CA Libby stated that she and Asst. CA Elsholz reviewed both proposals and looked at 
references. Belknap and Sullivan Counties use CLA, Merrimack County uses a different audit 
firm that will be going out of business this year, and everyone else uses Vachon Clukay. CA 
Libby stated that they are happy with Vachon Clukay. Grafton County used them for the last 
three (3) years, and their bid is significantly less money than CLA. CA Libby answered 
questions from the Commissioners.  

MOTION: Commissioner Hedberg moved to accept the audit bid from Vachon Clukay 
& Company, PC, as described in their offer. Commissioner seconded the motion, and all 
were in favor.  

2. Sign Teamsters Contract – CA Libby stated that the Commissioners previously approved the 
new contract for the Teamsters Union and the Sheriff’s Department, and needed to sign the 
contract.  



Grafton County Commissioners’ Meeting  
February 17, 2026 

Page 3 of 5 
 

3. January Financial Report:  

Monthly Variance Report 

Revenue – CA Libby reported that they are seven (7) months through FY26. The Nursing Home 
is still above its revenue projections despite the census decreasing in January. If this trend 
continues, it will create revenue problems, but she hopes that once they are through winter and 
illness, the Nursing Home will get back to its budgeted census. She stated that everything else on 
the revenue side looks good so far. The interest in December they were $70,000 behind, and in 
January, they are only $20,000 behind.  

Expense – CA Libby stated that January had three (3) payrolls, which skews their numbers. She 
also reported that she is watching the Department of Corrections budget. At the end of this 
month, the DoC only has $15,000 left out of its $145,000 medical budget. It is looking like they 
will be over-expended in the Correctional Officer salary line as well. CA Libby explained that 
there is money that will be left over in the Human Services budget if they need to transfer some 
over to the DoC. If that happens and it is over $5,000, the Executive Committee will need to 
approve that transfer. They will be looking to do that at their May meeting, if need be.  

4. Other Funding Sources Monthly Update – CA Libby reviewed the attached spreadsheet with 
the Commissioners.  

Commissioner Issues: 

1. Commissioner Hedberg stated that she has done a first look over of the social services 
applications. Many of them did not follow instructions and did not include what was needed. She 
thought they were quite clear on the instructions this year, but many things were not included. 
She noted that some applications are very well done. Commissioner Hedberg stated that she 
wanted to let the other Commissioners know, as they review the applications as well.  

Municipal Resources Inc. - EMS Study Presentation – Don Bliss & Bruce Baxter 

D. Bliss and B. Baxter presented the following PowerPoint (* see attached) and answered 
questions from the Commissioners. The full report of the EMS study can be found at the 
county’s website: https://grafton-county.com/wp-content/uploads/2026/02/Grafton-County-NH-
State-of-EMS-Study-1-28-2026.pdf  

Jason Blair from CAI Technologies presented interactive maps of EMS services in Grafton 
County. He reviewed the maps and showed the various data that they provide. D. Bliss stated that 
these integrative maps are available for anyone to access, and they are available to assist anyone 
with navigating the maps as well. He stated that they have sent the link to the county, and the 
Commissioners can decide how to send it out. Here is the link to the interactive maps: 
https://arcg.is/1WqjqS1     

Public Comment:  

1. Chad Miller, Littleton Fire Rescue– C. Miller thanked the Commissioners and MRI for doing 
this study, a lot of good information came from it. He stated that he is concerned about the 
SB245 study. He explained that they are government-run and not set up like a business, and 
therefore he does not see a lot of the cost that they bear in the fire department budget. In the 
operating budget for the fire department, there are no capital expenses or debt service. C. Miller 
stated that there is no funding included for his boss, the town manager, who also makes 



Grafton County Commissioners’ Meeting  
February 17, 2026 

Page 4 of 5 
 

decisions. He further stated that the fire department does not pay for payables or payroll services. 
It is extremely difficult in government to say what percentage of the fire department uses HR. 
This may work well for businesses, but it does not work well in capturing all overhead costs that 
go into operating these services in the government sector. C. Miller stated that they are going to 
need strong advocacy to make sure that this conversation is had, and it is discussed how difficult 
it is. A template needs to be built to help departments to come up with some of these costs. C. 
Miller noted that he has advocated this with the New Hampshire Association of Fire Chiefs as 
well, and he hopes some documents will be coming out to guide the departments.  

2. Phil Blanchard, Haverhill – P. Blanchard stated that he wanted to speak to an item from the 
previous Commissioners’ meeting as well as today’s meeting. He stated that he is the Fire Chief 
for the Town of Haverhill. He explained that they had village districts and merged two (2) of the 
three (3) departments. P. Blanchard stated that, as the Fire Chief, they are going to be looking at 
the regionalization of all services at some point. The recruitment and retention that was 
mentioned today is great. This is something that needs constant attention, and they cannot let up. 
If they do, it will fall back to the old ways. P. Blanchard stated that with regard to the 
Commissioners' last meeting, he watched H. Hatch give a history lesson on farming and 
everything he has done. They are talking about private and public enterprises. He explained that 
he plows driveways and has a plumbing business, but cannot do that work for the County; they 
hire people to save money. He stated that if the county takes the revenue from milking cows out 
of the farm, the vegetables will last two (2) years because there will be such a high cost to it. P. 
Blanchard stated that he appreciates what H. Hatch said about getting out of milking when the 
price of beef is high. P. Blanchard asked if any other farms in the area are selling their cows right 
now and stated that they are not. Those farms are continuing to milk. As good as it may sound to 
possibly get out of this, he stated that it is crazy that one (1) person can come in and sway the 
Commissioners in one direction or another. He stated that the Commissioners' job is to look at 
the total cost of everything. $30,000 is a lot less of a loss than the farm has had in the past. P. 
Blanchard stated that back in the day, he believes Hatchland Farm was one of the companies 
providing field work. It appears to him, by reviewing past county budgets, that the farm is 
trending in the right direction for a change, and it would behoove the Commissioners to let that 
play out. G. Libby is doing a great job. With inflation right now, everything is more expensive. 
He stated that G. Libby is saving the county money at a time when inflation is highest, but they 
were spending more money back in the day, and that was fine. P. Blanchard stated that he would 
not want to be a County Commissioner who ended 160 years of history. He thanked everyone for 
everything they do.  

3. Representative Sellers stated that as he was listening, he had a few concerns that he wanted to 
raise. He stated that grants are good, but if they are a one-time grant, they cannot build out an 
EMS service that is going to be year after year. They have to find a way to make it sustainable. 
Rep. Sellers added that some departments do not want just EMS service; they want EMS and fire 
training as a combination, yet there are some people who do not have the strength or ambition to 
do the fire side, and therefore, they lack personnel that can be used for EMS. Part-timers are not 
being paid the same typical wage as a full-timer, and they are not given benefits. Rep. Sellers 
asked, as far as equipment goes, van-style versus truck-style ambulance, what the goal is. Is the 
emergency service trying to get someone to the hospital, or are they trying to treat the patient on 
site and doing more than they should be? There is a big price difference between a van-style and 
truck-style ambulance. He further added, as far as the comment about keeping people in their 
























